ARCHAEOLOGICAL EXCAVATIONS
AT ST. BENET'S, CAMBRIDGE 1988

Prior to the building of a kitchen and lavatory extension to the NE
corner of St. Benet's church, a 2m by 3m trench was dug to assess whether any
archaeological remains would be disturbed during building.

The excavation lasted from 4th - 8th April 1988 and went as far as iSOcm
below ground surface before it was too deep and unsafe to continue. The
deposits were not bottomed and considerable activity in the Victorian period
and 20th century meant that very little from earlier periods remained in
situ.

The lowest deposit uncovered was a dark tan silty sand (context 24) which
extends right across the trench where not disturbed. In the north eastern
section of the trench it had been cut by mortar wall foundations which still
survive to a height of 40cm. The top of these foundations was 50cm below the
surface and follow an ofientation slightly more NW-SE than the present
retaining wall of Free School Lane.

Overlying context 24 a series of at least 3 articulated skeletons were
found, layered 15cm apart in a homogeneous deposit of clayey silt with
gravels (context 12). This appears to represent a well ordered burial regime
in that the lower burials were not disturbed by the later ones. The highest

orientated west-east.

A brick sided coffin-shaped grave had been cut through context 12. It
was orientated west-east, and its foot end goes beneath the brick retaining
wall of Free School Lane. This may be the vault for John Challis, 1838,
whose tombstone was propped against the church nearby.

A pit also had been cut through context 12. It contained a black sticky
£i11 at its east end, and a compacted clayey ¢ilt with much gravel and small
stones in the west end. On its surface this second fill (context 23) had
part of a Medieval gravestone 1ying upside down. Glass and china fragments
from the pit give it a 19th century or later date. Directly above this pit,

of these bones were just 50cm below the surface, and the skeletons were




and cutting the brick vault and the clay silt deposit 12, were large clay
drainpipes put in to drain the roofs of the Victorian Organ Chamber and North
Aisle. The backfill around these pipes appeared to be redeposited clay silt
and gravels from context 12, with much rubble and displaced bone. This also
formed . the fill of the brick-sided vault, and all of the west section, which
lay below the concrete gutter around the Victorian buttress.

A black topsoil approximately 20cm thick overlay the trench.

19th century pottery was found in all layers except the deepest (context
24), and context 12 which contained the articulated skeletons. Some
17th/18th century pottery is represented, but no Medieval wares were found.

The articulated skeletons may be of Medieval date but we have no evidence
.to support this. The fact that they went beneath the 19th century buttress,
and were cut by the brick vault means they were 18th century burials at the
latest. The pit that was cut into context 12 probably was a 19th century
sump. The earliest feature was the mortar wall foundation, which was
dismantled down to its present level before the construction of ‘the
brick-sided vault. Presumably it was an earlier boundary between the
graveyard and Free School Lane, following a different alignment from that of
the present one.

A drop of 150cm from the level of present day Free School Lane to the
churchyard, and the proximity of the burials to the surface suggests that the
Victorians removed the top part of the graveyard during re- -building work in’
the 1850s. In support of this a drawing of St. Benet's in 1842 (Cambs Local
Collection, ref. 2934) shows the ground level higher against the tower than
it is now.

14 April 1988 Tim Malim




ja00IA
p— -

eJjowy

egenng U®

suo}s Bujdde

S+ am— o —

YUoN

T \\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\

« BNYT T00HOS ¥aug

'S3UNLYI4 40 NVYId




- WEST FACING SECTION

north

1 south
topsoil .

1] 1metre




MEDIEVAL GRAVESTONE

o 10 20 z0 cm

The Medieval Graveslab

The medieval gravestone found at St. Benet's has been broken into 5
pieces and when reassembled it is missing its foot end. It would appear not
to have been much more than a metre in total length, by 30cm width, and is
made of Barnack stone. [t has cambered sides and an incised line traces the
edge of the stone. A central ridge is bisected by at least two cross arms,
and appears to finish at the head end in the shape of a triangle. This
simplicity of design fits in with the paucity of bold new patterns at
Cambridgeand the loss of ablity to carve intricate knotwork noted in the
immediate period post-Conquest (Butler, 1957, Medieval Gravestones... in PCAS
vol. 50, p.89-100). The design motif on the gravestone would suggest a date
of mid 12th century - 13th century. It should be noted that a similar, but
far longer gravestone, lies within the church itself, and contains not only
the median ridge but also a double omega motif in the middle of the stone.
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